MEDICINE

Katherine Mandusic McDonell

isease was prevalent among residents of early Indianapolis. The city’s low-lying
swampy land, combined with a lack of knowledge about disease-causing mechanisms and
proper sanitation methods, led to much sickness. Outbreaks of diseases such as malaria (popu-
larly known as “ager” or “ague”), dysentery, whooping cough, scarlet fever, measles, pneumonia,
erysipelas (black tongue), pleurisy, and milk sickness frequently occurred among the early resi-
dents. The latter disease was caused by eating the meat or drinking the milk of animals that had
grazed on the white snakeroot plant (which contained the poison tremotol). Epidemics of ty-
phoid fever, smallpox, yellow fever, and cholera were also common, killing large numbers of peo-
ple. Cholera, one of the most dreaded diseases of the early 19th century, first struck Indianapolis
in 1833 and again in 1849, 1854, and 1866.

Physicians could offer little assistance to the sick and suffering during much of the 19th cen-
tury. They lacked knowledge of germs and infection and thus had few effective treatments. Prior
to the Civil War, bloodletting and purging with harsh drugs such as calomel (a compound of
mercury) and jalap were the most common remedies. Surgery was limited because of the absence
of anesthesia and asepsis. Most patients were treated in their own homes rather than in hospitals.

Very few doctors had a formal education. Many studied under a practicing physician through
an apprenticeship. Some had a few courses at a medical school._ Bpt §tandards at these early
schools were lax, and almost anyone who wanted to become a.phys1c1an in the early 19th century
could do so. By midcentury most cities, including Indianapolm, had an abundance of doctors.

In 1821 Samuel Mitchell (d. 1837) camme to Indianapolis ﬁ.'om Kentucky to becfome thfe city’s
first physician. He was followed by Isaac Coe, a New Jersey native .w]f.10 later left Indianapolis; Liv-
ingston Dunlap (1799-1 862), a graduate of Transylvania University; Kenneth Scudder (d. 1829),

han Cool, also a New Jersey native. From 1821 to 1825 Indianap-

ive: and Jonat . ‘ .
ihl\;e: giersely r;lanvel,la:icins 1o care for the sick and suffering, The scarcity of physicians in Indi-
- ahSO}r: y :ervgas chort-lived. By 1836 the city had 14 regular, or orthodox, physicians and
olis, however,

a mumber of other sectarian doctors.

Katheri dusic McDonell is former Executive Director, Indiana Medical History Museum.
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se doctors, mary persons avoﬁed physi-

distance or cost made medical care in-

nts had a variety of forms of
Jation had existed in the state

Because of the harsh treatments employed by the
cians altogether and relied on home remedies. For some, :
accessible. Also, beginning in the 1830s, Indianap011§ re31de.
aliernative health care available to them. Although licensing 1eg
since 1816, most of this legislation was ineffective.

The most popular alternative medical sects in 19th-
nians and the homeopaths. The former sect, founded by
proclaimed doctor, Samuel Thomson, advocated the use 0 e )
substitute for bloodletting and the harsh regimens of the regular physicians. Thomsqn s explana-
tion of disease and his directions for medical cures were written In lay language. During ong year,
two of the fifteen doctors advertising in the two Indianapolis newspapers were botanics, or
Thomsonians. This sect remained popular throughout the 1830s and 1840s, but l.ay the 1850s ts
popularity waned. Schisms occurred within the sect, with some of its prominent members
founding other sects.

Homeopathy; another form of alternative medicine, was founded by Samuel Christian Hah-
nemann in the late 18th century. Hahnemann believed that “like cures like.” Accordingly, admin-
istering very small doses of drugs that in large doses reproduced symptoms of the disease would
cure the patient. Homeopathy, however, did not gain acceptance in Indianapolis until after the
Civil War; then it became very popular, especially among Indianapolis’ German population, and
remained so until the early 20th century.

By the 1830s and 1840s important changes were occurring in medicine. In Europe hospitals
became important to medical education, and doctors abandoned bloodletting and purging as in-
effective therapies. They also learned that many diseases ran their course with or without medical
interference. Doctors still had few effective remedies, but they relied on milder tonics rather than
the harsh treatments of the previous era. Professional associations and university training also
became important.

These ideas filtered back to the United States and were accepted by a number of physicians
on the East Coast. Change came slowly to Indiana and Indianapolis, although physicians in the
city played the leading role in restricting entry into the profession by establishing professional
medical societies. Indianapolis doctors also took the lead in establishing hospitals and improving
public health. Not until the end of the century was the reform of medicine complete.

Indianapolis established its first medical society in 1823. Known as the Central Medical So-
ciety, its major purpose was to license physicians. This association was short-lived. Not until
1848 ,‘w1t_h the formatwn of the Ind1an§poli§ Medical Society, was there a permanent group. The
organization r(-emamed. small and relatlv.ely inactive throughout much of the century. The Indi-
anatState Medical Soc1st); ('novz tlgzdlrrlldlalrlla .St_ate Medical Association), which was formed the
next year, was more active in educating physicians, monitori - 3
mean); for sharing scientific knowledge. Indianapolis physiciarrli ﬂ';Z pl("io fessn?n, and. prov1d1r.1g :
e ot dent was Livineston Dunl played a major role in establish-

g this society; its president was Livingston Dunlap and 18 of 28 charter members were from
Indianapolis-Marion County. The society included the leading physicians of Indianapolis: Dun-
lap, Patrick H. Jameson, John L. Mothershead, John M. Kitchen, PO

George W Mears, and John S.
Bobbs. Th headed efforts to establis ical instituri s
tooda; ese men spearneaded efiorts to es h medical institutiong that still exist in the city

The idea of building a municipal hospital originated with Livin
to &
For much of the 19th century hospitals were places of last resort for ngci;}?sugl;:gt;r; :h;htsc?ri)ls);

century Indianapolis were the Thomso-
a New Hampshire farmer and self-
f a variety of botanical remedies as a




. ) Overview: Medicine 123
institution caring for the sick

provided minimal medicg] care (alth o County Poor Farm (established 1832), which
with several other physicians savy though hospital facilities were added in 1869). Dunlap, along
Interest in such a hospital Wa’Xed ande Need for a permanent place to care for the city’s sick poor.

Poor was the

i ancial problems plagued i i udget, and the structure
Fin the msntut ildi
‘i o ' for s ution. Buﬂdmg costs exceeded b get, the struct

war the federal government returned th it the: il 9 g hosessielgool s it he

. ; facility to the city and i d harity hospital
Indianapol - & y to the city and it opened as a charity hospital.
polis physicians also played a major role in establishing a state mental hospital. In

1845 a committee purchased land for such an institution, and the following year the state legis-
lature passed an act establishing the facility. The Indiana’ Hosnital for th g Y g:ﬂ
siaie Fspital) admlited s frey o licy. pital for the Insane (later Cent

! patients in 1848,

N The CIFY established its first permanent board of health in 1859. That body established mu- -
nicipal sanitary and food inspection standards. Prior to this, the city council appointed tempo-
rary boards of health during epidemics. During the cholera epidemic of 1833, for example, a
board of health studied ways to prevent the spread of the disease. Subsequent ad hoc boards in-
VgstigatEd the possibility of erecting a pesthouse and establishing a new sanitary system within
the city.

Although Indianapolis played a prominent role in establishing medical societies, hospitals,
and a board of health, it trailed other cities in the state in establishing a medical school. The first
school in Indianapolis was short-lived; begun in 1848, it went out of business in 1852.

The Civil War interrupted Indianapolis doctors’ efforts to reform health care. Governor
Oliver P Morton appointed Indianapolis physicians John M. Kitchen and Patrick H. Jameson to
take care of all military camps in the Indianapolis area. The sick and wounded were cared for at
Camp Morton, Indianapolis City Hospital, and other temporary hospitals in the city.

Contagious diseases were quite common during the war, with more men dying from sick-
ness than wounds. Caring for the wounded on the battlefield presented special problems. In
March, 1862, the state created the Indiana Sanitary Commission. Headquartered in Indianapolis
and headed by Indianapolis businessman William Hanneman, this organization carried supplies
for soldiers, surgeons, and nurses to the battlefield.

The last half of the 19th century saw continued medical reform and progress. With the dis-
coveries of Joseph Lister, Louis Pasteut, and Robert Koch and the subsequent advent of the germ
¢ the end of the century, medicine became more of a science with a
body of specialized knowledge. Medical schools, medica_l societies,l hospitgls, and .medical jour-
nals thrived. Bacteriology and the germ theory led to an 1ncregsed interest in pub1.1c. health.

Advances in medical science led to the decline in pgpularuy of sectarian medicine. Homeo-
pathic medicine and eclectic medicine, however, remaln€d POP‘L{Elr and by 'the eaﬂ}’ _ZOth cen-
tury had gained acceptance by the orthodox medical profession. Eclectic physicians ’u.sed

. . rernedies, but claimed to borrow the best cures from all forms of medicine.
primarily bo'tarllC re : dicine—osteopathy, Christian Science, and chiropractic medicine—
New aliernattve for.ms X glsieo athy, founded by Missouri doctor Andrew Still in the 1890s, was
loomed on the h-orl'ZOn- e wﬁen tl,ua human body was sick it could be repaired by placing its
based on the principle Christian Science, founded by Mary Baker Eddy, looked at disease as

: ;onship.

Pas m prope ITE]ZUCE? s}irit. Chiropractic medicine stressed that disease results from a lack of
a functllon of rfnl;zcﬂzns ~nd employs manipulation and adjustment of the spinal column.
normal nerve

theory and bacteriology 2
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Top left: Col. Eli Lilly, founder
of Eli Lilly and Company.
[Eli Lilly and Company
Archives]

Top right: Medical students

in the Pathology Building

at Central State Hospital

ca. 1900 observing an
operation. [Indiana Histerical
Society, #C5618]

Bottom: Sunnyside Sanitarium
provided medical treatment
for tuberculosis patients such
as the children shown in this
1925 photograph.

[Indiana Historical Society,
Bass Collection, #91948-F]

Several medical schools opened in Indianapolis after the Civil War. The first was the Indiana
Medical College (1869). That school affiliated with Indiana University in 1871, but the affiliation
lasted only until 1876. In 1873 some of the faculty left the school to form a rival medical college
the College of Physicians and Surgeons (1874-1878). In 1879, yet another school emerged thé
Central College of Physicians and Surgeons. During the last half of the 19th century Indiana : olis
also had a number of other schools that represented the varioys alternative forms of medicI:Dine
All of these schools were proprietary in nature and relied on income from tuition for o eratiné
support. Standards were low and financial problems abounded. Yet the establishment of Irjnedicall
schools within the city gave prospective medical students the ~ :
cation, rather than merely apprenticeship training, Ppportunity to obtain formal edu-
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Although the Indiananai:
apolis - :
cases and exchange id , Me.d 1cal Society remained small. i
£¢ 1deas. The Indiana Stae small, it met monthly to share medical

played an important role, likewige _I\/I_Edical Association, in which Indianapolis doctors
profession. Local physicians wer, gall:e Ph)_’Slclans an opportunity to control the direction of the
1847), and in 1879 Indiang olise a ; FflCtlve In the American Medical Association (formed in

Polis physician Theophilus T. Parvin became its president. All three

» State, and ; ! .
national—obbied to limit entrance into the profession. In

1885 doctors had to obtain 7 Jj
cense i . :
Assembly created the State Boarec:i1 CS;?r ;\I/llethe county in which they practiced. In 1897 the General

: » di istrati At
tice of medicine and to issue licese cal Registration and Examination to regulate the prac-

The professio ici
- top dissemi:a?ef Ln;fl‘;l;;;vzi Zilehanced by the creation of medical journals that allowed
pis, The Enditia State Medico) AS,SOdat‘ cases an'd treatments, and critically evaluate new thera-

. lon published its Transactions from 1849 to 1907 (which
then became the Journal and is now Indiana Medicine). It is the old : : :
cation in the state. A number of other journals . blish it Ko i med'lcal B
Fiiapihts Mede Jourmgl J were published within the city, including the In-
| ‘Wi'th the growth of medical schools came the need for clinical facilities at hospitals and other
1r.15t1tut10ns where students could observe patients. These institutions continued to serve prima-
rﬂy the poor. By the end of the century, however, hospitals offered advanced medical care for the
m1dcﬂe class. This tfrrlisformation was aided by the introduction of professional nursing and
aseptic operating techniques.

At the end of the Civil War the federal government turned City Hospital over to the city,
which opened the facility as a 75-bed charity hospital. During its early years the institution re-
sembled an almshouse more than a hospital. The physical building was in disrepair, and the hos-
pital lacked a trained nursing staff. In 1879 superintendent William Niles Wishard introduced
important changes at the institution. Among his achievements were new and expanded facilities,
anurse training school, and aseptic hospital procedures. By 1885 City Hospital had been trans-
formed into a modern hospital facility.

As poverty in the city increased so did the hospital population. Once-modern facilities rap-
idly became outdated. Overcrowding and underfunding characterized the hospital well into the
20th century. To meet the need for hospital bed space, two other institutions opened—St. Vin-
cent Hospital (1881) and Protestant Deaconess (1899). Both were ﬁnanc;ed through private phi-
lanthropy and provided a higher quality of care than that available at Cltyl I—Iospital. ‘

The city also opened a dispensary for outpatient careio‘f the poor. lee. Qty HOSplta.l and
other local hospitals, medical students used the facility for clinical training. Orlglnaﬂy established
in 1870 as a public-private venture, it was reorganized in 1879 gnd opergted ex.cluswely as a gov-
emmental agency. The dispensary experienced a tremendous mc.rease oy busmgss c'!ur,mg eco:
nomic recessions and depressions. The City Dispensary merged with Indiana University’s Bobl?s
Free Dispensary in 1909 and moved to the medical school. It eventually b(f,came part of the social
services division of Indiana University. Later in the 20th centuy outpgﬂent clinics were estab-
lished throughout the city and outpatient departments of hospitals fulfilled the need for outpa-

tient care - ' i
: - k poor. Funded through private donations
.~ also provided care for the sick p >
' jl'l‘ne Flowg M1;56103 }?er(l) E group of women decided to take flowers to the sick poor. The
it originated in 18 t City Hospital, visited the sick poor in their

Frt nur. a

o sining program for nurses _ ) o

;vomen .mstltl'ltecti 3 tr a%l 5 determined the proper course of action, and provided district or
omes, investigated cases
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public health nursing to the poor. In 1895 the Flower Mission, with Lilly fa_rrﬂ}ilyhm(’f_le);, elit:eb-
lished Eleanor Hospital, a hospital for poor sick children under the age of 15. € osplga closed
its doors in 1909. Flower Mission also established a hospital in 1936 to care for incurable cases,
particularly patients suffering from tuberculosis. _ _

The key to good hospital care and improved public health was a Well—trameﬁ:l n'ursmg.st‘alff.
City Hospital superintendent Wishard was instrumental in opening the Floxyer Mission Training
School for Nurses (which later became the Wishard Hospital School of Nursm_g). In 1895 St. Vin-
cent Hospital established the second nurse training school within the city; in 1899 Prqtestam
Deaconess Hospital opened its school. By the early 20th century the city also had established a
system of public health, or district, nursing to provide care for patients in their homes.

Indianapolis likewise took a lead in the public health movement. In 1880, according to an
account cited by Indiana medical historian Thurman Rice, only three cities in the country had a
death rate higher than Indianapolis. The common killers included typhoid fever, infantile diar-
thea (also known as cholera infantum or “summer complaint™), tuberculosis, smallpox, diphthe-
ria, pneumonia, and venereal disease. The local board of health, assisted by the newly created
State Board of Health, undertook measures to improve the public health and reduce the city’s
death rate.

Indianapolis physician Thaddeus Stevens in 1881 secured legislation establishing a board of
health within the state and a method of collecting vital statistics, In 1896 another Indianapolis
resident, pharmacist and chemist John Hurty, became secretary of the board of health and turned
the organization into a major force within Indiana. Although Hurty technically lacked jurisdic-
tion over Indianapolis, he worked closely with city health officials to reduce the incidence of ty-
phoid fever by providing Indianapolis with a safe water supply:

Cholera infantum, or infantile diarrhea, was the leading cause of death among children un-
der the age of one. Doctors believed that the unhealthy living conditions of the poor contributed
to the high incidence of cholera infantum. In 1890 a group of citizens established the privately
funded Summer Mission for Sick Children to provide day outings to Fairview Park. These outings
were designed to relieve the misery of poor, sick children. They did little to lessen the incidence
of the disease. By the late 1890s doctors pointed to the lack of a pure milk supply within the city
as a major contributing factor, and the city appointed a milk Inspector to ensure its safety. In 1903
the Indianapolis News established a fund to provide pasteurized milk to the residents of Indianap-
olis. These efforts helped reduce the infant mortality rate.

The care of the mentally ill improved slightly during this period. During the second half of
the 19th century the organic and physiological causes of mental illness had been identified.
Leaders in the field began looking at mental asylums as hospitals and mental illness as a disease.
In 1896 Central State Hospital df:dicated its Patho!ogical Department, a state-of-the-art research
facility for. the stgdy of mental 1.11nes.s. All the sc1eptif-ic advances and research, however, pro-
duced no unr.ne(.ijate cures and httlc? Improvement in living conditions at the hospital. In 1898
Norways Sanitorium opened as a private treatment facility for patients
disorders.

UP until'1899 the state had assgrned the primary-responsibility for the care of the mentally
ill. Patients rejected by the state hospital were cared for in the Mariop, County Poor Asylum. With
growing numb.ers of the mentally ill at the IHSUL"-LIHO.H, Efnd increasing numbers being rejected by
the state, the city and county funded a mental institution for the

Incurably insane” at Julietta.
This facility remained open until 1938. Whether at state or municipal facilities, the cartje of the

with nervous and mental
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mentglly ill was far from Perfect, and the instit

Deinstitutionalj e continuied 1o the Present day, e pablicserafiny This
ous tranquilizers that helped patients began in the 1950s with the introduction of vari-

of comImunity mental health cent -
Tri-County Mental Health Center. _T_f;‘éil 9 Midtown Community Mental Health Center and

Optometrists,

The Indiana Pharmaceutical Association had been established in 1882, but pharmacy was
not regulated until 1899 when the General Assembly created a State Board of Pharmacy. Until
the late 19th century most pharmacists compounded drugs in their own laboratories. The rise of
large pharmaceutical companies, however, eventually made drugstore laboratories obsolete.
These companies also began conducting medical research on various drug therapies, and thus
medical research moved out of the physician’s office and the drugstore into the laboratories and
medical schools.

In Indianapolis the founding of Eli Lilly and Company in 1876 by Col. Eli Lilly transformed
pharmaceutical and medical research within the city. The company, incorporated in 1881, hired
its first full-time pharmacist in 1886. As the 20th century opened, Lilly enlarged its research ef-
forts, eventually building separate facilities and a test clinic. In the 1920s the company began the
first commercial production of insulin. It became a pharmaceutical giant and one of the leaders
in research on cardiovascular disease, pernicious anemia, and cancer, and the production of sulfa
drugs and antibiotics. Lilly, like the Indiana University Medical Center, has become a major re-
cruiter of the world’s best medical scientists. The firm employs thousands of individuals locally
and invests millions of dollars in drug research and development. o . ' .

Twentieth century developments revolutionized medicin-e. To.assmt in the d@gnosm of dis-
ease, for example, doctors had available a number of bacteriological and chemical tests and a
variety of diagnostic instruments such as the stthoscope, ophthomloscope, X-ray, and elec.tro-
cardiograph. By the 1970s accuracy in diagnosis unprov.ed fgrther w1th the use of compgtenze"—:d
axial tomography (CAT scans) and magnetic resonance Imaging. Twentieth century medical dis-

.. hilis (1909), insulin for diabetes (1922), sulfa drugs (1935),
coveries included Salvarsan for syP ;5 ia (1955), vaccines for polio (1954 and 1956)
penicillin (1943), vitamin B12 for pernicious anemia ! p ,

19609). Surgery likewise improved throughout the century By
and cobalt treatments for cancer ( rforming major organ transplants. Most recently, phy-

tors were pe
the late 1960s and 1970s doc g to better understand disease.

e tic engineerin, ‘ )
sicians have looked t0 glzgivim esgsed a major reform of medical education. At the turn of the cen-
The 20th century a

. : i ietary In 1910 a Carnegie Foun-
: . tndianapolis were private or proprietary. gi
tury all the medical schoolﬁljge;acrigdzed proprietary medical education and urged that state
dation report by Abrahﬂ_lm onsibility. Prior to the release of this report, Indiana schools had
g;)lvemment assun;it ﬂ'z;:re:ti 4. In 1905 one of these schools, the Central College of Physicians
changed the way they '
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and Surgeons, joined with the Fort Wayne Medical College to fC_Jl'm the Indiana h’f[;d{cal g:ou;ge
(which was a part of Purdue University). Indiana University 1n‘1.903. birglill'llao eri;g 1ts first
courses in medicine in Bloomington, with two years of clini(?al training In dr_lapo - In 1998
all Indiana medical schools merged with Indiana University t0 form the Indiana University
School of Medicine. _
The medical school used City Hospital and other area hospitals for teaching and mh
_purposes. The Robert Long Hospital, built in 1914 with private money, was the first hosp}tal de-
voted to the medical school, and the medical school complex expanded rapldly around this facil-
ity. Ever so, the legislature was frugal with money. The school had few full-time facult.y and many
professors divided their time between Bloomington and Indianapolis. As a result Indiana Univer-
sity ranked very low in a survey done in the mid-1930s by the American Medical Association of
the nation’s 77 acceptable medical schools. A special committee formed by the Indiana State
Medical Association recommended that the first two years of the medical school move to India-
napolis and that the legislature allocate more money for the school.

After World War 11 the legislature did grant more money to the school, but not until 1958,
with the opening of a medical sciences building, was the first year of medical school available in
Indianapolis. The quality of medical education improved rapidly. By 1970 the Indiana University
School of Medicine had become one of the nation’s leading medical schools and Indiana Univer-
sity Medical Center (consisting of the school and its affiliated hospitals) had become a leader in
medical research and hospital care.

With the advent of bacteriology, the 20th century witnessed a rapid expansion of public
health services. Public health included concerns about communicable diseases, infant and child
hygiene, sanitation, food and milk control, and school health supervision. Public health officials
emphasized preventive medicine through public education.

In 1905 the Indianapolis Board of Health became part of the Board of Health and Charities.
This government agency operated as a separate entity until 1951 when the General Assembly cre-
ated the Health and Hospital Corporation of Marion County. This body provided health and hos-
pital services to all of Marion County and oversaw the work of Wishard Hospital, as well as the
public health efforts of the Board of Health. Today, the Public Health Division of the Corporation
provides preventive and diagnostic health programs, health education, immunization and epide-
miological programs, environmental health regulation, and code enforcement. It has several clin-
ics and district health offices throughout the county.

Tuberculosis, venereal disease, pneumonia, influenza, infant mortality; and industrial acci-
dents and related occupational diseases were common during the early decades of the 20th cen-
tury. By midcentury cancer, heart disease, polio, and traffic accidents were major concerns of
public health officials. Public health concerns in the 1990s include AIDS, infant mortality, drug
abuse, environmental hazards, heart disease, and the resurgence of tuberculosis,

During the early 20th century tuberculosis (also known as consumption and the white
plague) occupied much attention of public health officials. The Marion County Society for the
Study and Prevention of Tuberculosis (founded in 1912 and later known as the Marion County
Tuberculosis Association) and the Indianapolis Public Health Nursing Association (also founded
in 1912) actively educated the public about the disease. In 1903 the Flower Mission opened a
small hospital on the grounds of Wishard Hospital to care for tuberculosis patients. Five years
later the city opened its first tuberculosis clinic. In 1917 Sunnyside Sanitarium opened near Oak-
landon as an outgrowth of the pulmonary department of Wishard Hospital. Sunnyside provided




Overview: Medicine 129

state-of-the-art care ang reatmen

tfort S
wher_} }111ew tfreét.rr.lents i.'or tuberculosi ;23‘:‘;}1;5}5 pﬂaiUents. It continued in operation until 1969,
ese lacilities Primarily served the acility obsolete.
blacks from tuberculosis was white
lation of 30,000 died during
for black tuberculosis patien;s began with the

their guidance and support, a black tuberculosis

ner House opened its Free Tuberculosis Cling, camp opened at Oak Hill in 1905. In 1919 Flan-

dfiath rate for blacks, however, remained high primarily be-
nd inadequate funding, In 1940, 188 blacks per thousand in
compared to 34 per thousand for whites. The introduction in
Fluce the numbser of deaths from tuberculosis. By the 1960s tu-
1ous threat, although boards of health elsewhere have reported a
: f the disease among the homeless in the 1990s,

Early in the century influenza epidemics, especially the Spanish flu, claimed many lives. The
worst epidemic struck in 1918 when 548,000 individuals died fromm the disease. In Indianapolis
alone, 969 individuals died (out of a population of 289,577). The board of health undertook a
number of measures such as cleaning and fumigating streetcars, restricting admission to theaters,
and banning public gatherings to help prevent the spread of the disease.

Polio epidemics occurred in 1949 and 1951. Hospitals around the city purchased iron lungs,
which were large chambers to force normal breathing in polio victims. With the development of
polio vaccines in 1954 and 1956, the threat of the disease subsided.

Venereal disease was another concern of 20th-century health officials. Many viewed syphilis,
gonorrhea, and other sexually transmitted diseases as a problem of morality rather than as ill-
nesses. In 1914 Indianapolis appointed a venereal disease investigator to monitor cases, and four
years later the state required reporting of venereal cases. Until the discovery of penicillin in 1943,
the only available treatment for the disease was Salvarsan, a mercurial compound discovered in
1909. In 1943 the Indianapolis Social Hygiene Association (later the Social Health Association
of Central Indiana) was formed to educate the public about venereal disease. That same year In-
dianapolis opened the nation’s first isolation hospital for the. treatment of Fhose suffermg fror'n
venereal disease. Although cases of syphilis dramatically declined after the introduction of anti-

biotics. the State Board of Health has recently reported an increase of venereal diseases, now
, TDs). The most recent threat has been the increased num-

cause of poor living conditions 4
Indiana died from tuberculosis
1945 of streptomycin helped re
berculosis no longer posed a ser
resurgence of a virulent strain o

termed sexually transmitted diseases (5 '
ber oefAIDS ca);es The first AIDS case in Marion County was reported in 1982. By 1990, 307

ber continues to rise.

AIDS had been reported and the num ! : | |
Acailes . of the cfntury infant mortality was particularly high, especially among black chil-
— the infant mortality rate, public health officials focused on child and

baby and pure milk campaigns. Well-baby clinics, which
d throughout the city. With the passage of the Sheppard-
ial Security Act in 1935, many of these programs re-

dren. In an effort to reduce
maternal health. They began healthy
offered health screening, were opene
Towner Act in 1921 and Title V of the Soc

ceived feder.al fundiﬂiah tv among blacks remains prominent on the local public health agenda.

Today, Tnfant mortality Defense Fund report revealed that Indianapolis had the highest black
A;QST Natu;lnal Cgl'(ilrir}i United States. To reduce infant mortality; the City-County Council
Inlant mortality rate 1
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allocated $1.5 million in 1990 to launch the Indiangpohs Ca}mpmg‘l;llff;);:{r;ilﬁ?]:iﬁhﬂugh
the Campaign for Healthy Babies initially resulted in a de%cllr}e ini e wa’s . 19875tudy
has revealed that the mortality rate among black infants is higher now th . ‘

~ , birth control and family planning movemen;

The early interest in maternal health led to the 1d be
Public health nurses realized that the many health problems of poor WOMEn 890 be taced g
frequent pregnancies. An organized birth control movement began in th; “ ;QO?Zand Oper-
ated illegally until the late 1930s. The local chapter of Planned Parenthood started in 1932 as pary
of the larger birth control movement. :

Hospitals became an important part of the health care system dUI.’H’Ig tbe 20th .CEI-ltLll'y. Be-
fore the outbreak of World War 11 a number of new hospitals opened in Indianapolis, including
Methodist, St. Francis, William Coleman Hospital for Women, the James Whitcomb Riley Hos-
pital for Children, and the Robert Long Hospital. Even with these hospitals, Indianapolis could
not keep pace with the need for hospital beds. Particularly acute was the lack of adequate space
for African-Americans. Until the 1940s only City Hospital accepted black patients, even though
an Indianapolis Foundation-funded study in the 1920s revealed the need for more bed space for
African-American patients. In the 1940s St. Vincent Hospital opened its wards to black patients,

The Great Depression had an adverse effect on the city’s hospitals since charity care in-
creased dramatically Hospital care was expensive, and increasing numbers of individuals were
unable to pay for this care. One hospital, Protestant Deaconess, closed its doors. Others contem-
plated accepting health insurance, although the state and local medical societies viewed insur-
ance as a form of socialized medicine and staunchly opposed any third-party intrusion into the
field. In 1944 Methodist Hospital became the city’s first hospital to sign an agreement with Blue
Cross Hospital Services, and others soon followed its lead.

The world wars strained the financial and human resources of the city’s hospitals. Many of
Indianapolis’ health care professionals were called to active duty: In 1918 the Indianapolis chapter
of the American Red Cross outfitted a base hospital in honor of Col. Elj Lilly. Officially known
as US. Army Base Hospital No. 32, the unit originally was stationed at Fort Benjamin Harrison
and then deployed to Contrexeville, France. During World War 11 Indianapolis physicians again
served on active duty. The Indiana University School of Medicine funded another base hospital,
which functioned in England and Germany.

With public resources going toward the war efforts, private philanthropy became important
to meet the growing needs for equipment and services at hospitals. Hospitals (including publicly
funded ones) established guilds to serve as fund-raising arms, After the war the shortage of bed
space became even more acute. The Indianapolis Hospital Development Association, formed in
1951 by local businessmen, assessed Indianapolis’ hospital needs and undertook a $12 million
campaign to add 825 beds by 1975. To participate in this campaign all hospitals had to admit

African-American patients. The campaign resulted in the €xXpansion of existing hospital bed
space and the opening of Community Hospital. :

By the 1960s hospitals were affected by the spiraling cost of health care. With the advent of
Medicare and Medicaid, the federal government heavily subsidized health care for the elderly and
the indigent. The result was increased hospital admissions, increased physicians’ fees, and in-
creased insurance premiums. In 1983 the government acted to contrg] costs, resulting in the loss
of millions of dollars by hospitals. Inflation, expensive new technology, and declining hospital
admissions led to lean years in 1983 and 1984. Some local hospitals downsized, cut staff, and
relied more heavily on outpatient services. Health maintenance organizations emerged in the city,
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Indianapolis in the 1990s is the center of the state’s health care industry. Especially through
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e ] i g nd even international recognition. Health care contributes
Signt 1can. Y 10 the city's economy, employing thousands of workers in health-related concerns.
Changes in health care, most notably national health care reform, will affect the city in profound

if yet unknown ways. What is not likely to change is the city’s continuing emergence as a leader

in medical and dental research and treatment, a development that rests upon the vast intellectual
and fiscal investments of the past 175 years.
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